FILED
SID J. WHITE
AUG 12 1991
CLERK, SUPREME COURT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

COMMUNITY HOSPITAL OF THE PALM BEACHES, INC., d/b/a HUMANA HOSPITAL - PALM BEACHES; RICHARD A. BERJIAN, D.O.; and ERIC J. GOLDBERG, M.D.,

Appellants,

vs.

a

a

CASE NO.: 78,017 DCA-4, 90-3435

LUIS GUERRERO, M.D.,

Appellee.

APPELLANTS' INITIAL BRIEF

Atlee W. Wampler, 111, Esq. Florida Bar No. 311227
Attorneys for Appellants WAMPLER, BUCHANAN & BREEN 900 Sun Bank Building 777 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 577-0044

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE PACTS

The Appellee, Dr. Guerrero, is a general surgeon, whose privileges to **perform** surgery at the Appellant Hospital were limited by the Hospital to performing minor surgical procedures (70) as a result of medical review committee **and** disciplinary actions required by §395.0115(1), §768.40(2) and §768.60(1), Fla. Stat. (1985) [renumbered §395.0115(3), Fla. Stat. (1989) and §766.101(2) and §766.110(1), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1990)]. (200).

a

a

а

a

The Appellant, Richard A. Berjian, D.O., was Chairman of the Tissue and Transfusion Committee, Department of Surgery, of the Medical Staff of the Appellant Hospital. (23).

The Appellant Eric J. Goldberg, M.D., was Chairman of the Surgical Evaluation Committee, Department of Surgery, of the Medical Staff of the Appellant Hospital, which committee initially reviewed those of Dr. Guerrero's surgical cases that met the criteria for automatic review. (15-18)

The Complaint contains three (3) counts, alleging claims against the Appellants for breach of contract (7-lo), violation of administrative and statutory rights (10-l1), and tortious interference with advantageous business relationships. (11-l2). The Parties agree that all three (3) counts of the Complaint arose solely out of the institution of medical review committee disciplinary proceedings, as mandated by §395.0115(1), §768.40(2), and 8768.60(1) Fla. Stat. (1985) [currently renumbered as

§395.0115(3), Fla. Stat. (1989) and §766.101(2) and §766.110(1), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1990)]. (3-6, 70-71). These statutes contain similar provisions requiring a physician who has filed suit against either the hospital or other physicians involved in medical review committee and disciplinary proceedings, based on such proceedings, to post a bond in an amount sufficient to pay the Defendants' reasonable costs and attorneys' fees prior to a responsive pleading being due. Section 395.0115(5)(b) and §768.40(6)(b), Fla. Stat. (1985) [renumbered as §395.0115(8)(b), Fla. Stat. (1989) and §766.101(6)(b), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1990)3. (70-72).

The Complaint does not allege that the Appellants directly interfered with the Appellee's doctor/patient or doctor/doctor relationships, but does allege that the restriction of the Appellee's clinical privileges and that the medical review committee and disciplinary process itself resulted in economic and non-economic damages. (6).

The Appellants raised the statutory bond requirements of §395.0115(5)(b) and §768.40(6)(b), Fla. Stat. (1985), (40-43), prior to filing responses to the Complaint, and filed affidavits showing that, due to extensive discovery required by the allegations set out in this complaint and in similar cases, the minimum reasonable attorneys' fees and costs required for services through the trial of this case to be One Hundred Fifty Thousand and 00/100 (\$150,000.00) Dollars; a further Fifty Thousand and 00/100 (\$50,000.00) Dollars for appeal to the Fourth District Court of

Appeal: and Fifty Thousand and 00/100 (\$50,000.00) Dollars for an appeal to the Supreme Court of Florida. (60-65).

The Appellants evidence showed that, a minimum total of Two Hundred Fifty Thousand and 00/100 (\$250,000.00) Dollars would be required to litigate the case through the Florida Supreme Court. Additionally, the Affidavit of Emil C. Marquardt, Jr., set out public policy arguments as to why the bond requirements are reasonable to further the operation of the medical review committee and disciplinary process. (60-62). The Appellee agreed before the trial court that Two Hundred Fifty Thousand and 00/100 (\$250,000.00) Dollars in costs and attorneys' fees was reasonable to litigate the case through the Florida Supreme Court, and offered no evidence to the contrary. (71). The trial court refused to speculate on possible appellate action by the parties and, based upon the evidence presented, the bond set required §395.0115(5)(b) and §768.40(6)(b), Fla. Stat. (1985) at One Hundred Fifty Thousand and 00/100 (\$150,000.00) for the amount to be posted through the completion of the trial. (71).

The trial court then heard financial testimony by the Appellee regarding his ability to post such a bond. (71). The trial court held that it could not find that the Appellee either could or could not post the One Hundred Fifty Thousand and 00/100 (\$150,000.00) Dollars bond, but did determine that the Appellee's Complaint had tolled the statute of limitations. (71). Thus, the trial court held that the Appellee had up to one year to post the required

bond, before any responsive pleading was due from the Appellants. (71).

а

8

The Appellee filed legal memoranda and moved the trial court to declare §395.0115(5)(b) and §768.40(6)(b), Fla. Stat. (1985), unconstitutional as violative of Art. I, § 21, Fla. Const., which guarantees access to the courts, and as a violation of federal constitutional rights of access to the courts. (44-48, 66-69). The designation of the lead defendant changed from "Humana, Inc., d/b/a Humana Hospital--Palm Beaches" to "Community Hospital of the Palm Beaches, Inc., d/b/a Humana Hospital--Palm Beaches" by stipulation of the Parties. (50).

Initially, the trial court in Guerrero v. Community Hospital of the Palm Beaches, et al., denied this motion, holding the medical review pre-suit bond statutes were not violative of Art. I, § 21, Fla. Const., nor of any federal constitutional rights. In regard to Appellee's state constitutional claims, the trial court held that, while the bond requirements restrict Dr. Guerrero's access to the courts, they do not abolish his right to sue and are reasonably related to the purpose of the legislation, which is to insure the availability of physicians to serve on peer review committees and the ability of health care providers to conduct peer review. (72). In regard to Appellee's federal constitutional claims, the trial court found that the right restricted, which was to practice medicine at the Appellant Hospital with unrestricted privileges and free of medical review and disciplinary proceedings, was not a fundamental right, such as

those involved in criminal proceedings or in dissolutions of marriage, which merit strict scrutiny. (72).

The first time before the Fourth District Court of Appeal, in Guerrero V. Community Hospital of the Palm Beaches, et al., the Appellee abandoned his United States Constitutional claims. (85-94).

This is the same case that was before the Fourth District Court of Appeal in Guerrero v. Community Hospital of the Palm Beaches, et al., 548 So.2d 1187 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989) (hereinafter sometimes referred to as "Guerrero I") (157-159) except that the parties and the trial and appellate court's rulings on the constitutionality of the medical peer review pre-suit bond statutes See November 20, 1990 Order of the trial court are reversed. declaring §395.0115(5)(b) and §768.40(6)(b), Fla. Stat. (1985) §395.0115(8)(b), Fla. [renumbered Stat. (1989)as and §766.101(6)(b), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1990)] unconstitutional as violative of Art. I, § 21, Fla. Const., (hereinafter sometimes referred to as "Guerrero II") (73), and the Fourth District's opinion of May 8, 1991, affirming trial court's determination of unconstitutionality of the statutes decision, Community Hospital of the Palm Beaches V. Guerrero, 579 So. 2d 304 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991). (268-269) as corrected as to the amount of the bond (272a).

After the Fourth District's <u>per curiam</u> denial of the Appellee's Petition for Certiorari (157) in Guerrero I and his Request for Rehearing (168), the Appellee waited approximately ten (10) months before obtaining an Order for an evidentiary hearing

regarding the Appellee's indigency. (74-75). The Appellants, through service of Subpoena Duces Tecum to lending institutions and an automobile dealership, prepared evidentiary exhibits for the hearing regarding Appellee's financial condition, copies of which were provided to Appellee's counsel in advance of the hearing. (79-82). On the eve of the hearing, Appellee changed his position to, in essence, a renewal of his legal argument to declare the medical peer review pre-suit bond statutes unconstitutional. (76-78).

Before the evidentiary hearing began on November 16, 1990, the trial court announced that it had reconsidered its opinion in light of the reasoning in Judge Anstead's dissent in Guerrero I and the decisions of the panels in the First District Court of Appeal cases of psychiatric Associates, et al. V. Siegel, 567 So.2d 52 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) and Sittiq v. Tallahassee Memorial Regional Medical Center, 567 So.2d 486 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990). (190-194).

The Appellants attempted to present evidence subpoenaed for the hearing into the record regarding the financial condition of the Appellee during the previous twelve months and the testimony of an expert bondsman and agent of an approved bond company. (190-191). The Appellee objected on the basis that the financial and bonding information was irrelevant since the trial court had declared the statutes facially unconstitutional and had not determined that the Appellee was indigent. (191-192). The trial court sustained the Appellee's objection. (192). The Appellants then proffered evidence of Dr. Guerrero's financial condition for

the record (79-84) and (190-191) that their evidence showed that a ten (10%) percent bond could be written for Dr. Guerrero to comply with the statutorily required bond in the amount set by the trial court of One Hundred Fifty Thousand and 00/100 (\$150,000.00) Dollars upon Dr. Guerrero's payment of Fifteen Thousand and 00/100 (\$15,000.00) Dollars. Additionally, the Appellants proffered that they were prepared to present extensive financial evidence that Appellee had been able to post the Fifteen Thousand and 00/100 (\$15,000.00) Dollars cash for the ten (10%) percent bond during the twelve months subsequent to the Fourth District's mandate in (79-84) and (190-191). Judge Cook denied the Guerrero I. Appellants! motion to stay the proceedings pending an appellate The Appellants applied for a writ of review. (192-193).certiorari to the Fourth District Court of Appeal because the trial court's declaration of unconstitutionality of the statutes at issue directly contradicted the Fourth District's decision in Guerrero (197-234). I.

The Appellants then submitted motions to dismiss and to strike, pursuantto Judge Cook's previous Order allowing additional motions to be filed. Judge Brown, replacing Judge Cook as the trial judge, denied the motions on the procedural grounds that only one set of motions to dismiss would be considered (293), despite Judge Cook's earlier Order. (50). Judge Brown suggested that those motions be pled as affirmative defenses. Pursuant to these Orders, the Appellants filed a responsive Answer to the Appellee's Complaint, including Appellants' Affirmative Defenses. (273-292).

The case was noticed at issue, mediation required, and a trial date has been set. (294-295).

The Fourth District reversed its decision of Guerrero I, and affirmed the trial court's decision in Guerrero II that the medical peer review pre-suit bond statutes were an unconstitutional denial of access to the courts, as provided by Art. I, § 21, Fla. Const., on May 8, 1991, (268-269). Community Hospital of the Palm Beaches v. Guerrero, 579 So.2d 304 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991) as corrected. (272a).

The Appellants appeal this decision, under Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(1)(A)(ii) and Art. V, § 3(b)(1), Fla. Const. (1980), which authorize this Court to hear appeals of decisions of the district courts of appeal declaring invalid state statutes.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The requirements of Sections 395.011 (10)(b), Fla. Stat. (1989), 395.0115(8)(b), Fla. Stat. (1989), and 766.101(6)(b), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1990), and those statutes' historical numerical designations, that a bond for reasonable attorney's fees and costs be posted as a condition precedent to proceeding with a suit against physicians and hospitals arising from their participation in medical review and disciplinary proceedings are a valid exercise of the police power of the Legislature to remedy an identified crisis in public health and welfare. The "access to courts" provision of Art. I, 521, Fla. Const., does not apply as the

presuit bond statutes does not abolish a cause of action. The Complaint does not allege any claims to which Art. I, 521, Fla. Const., applies. Even assuming, arguendo, that the "access to courts" provision was applicable, the legislative determination of an overpowering public necessity requires the Court to uphold this reasonably related remedy.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

Whether the health care crisis in the State of Florida constitutes sufficient public need justifying the statutory attorneys' fees and cost bond requirements of §395.0115(5)(b) and §768.40(6)(b), Fla. Stat. (1985). [Renumbered as §395.0115(8)(b), Fla. Stat. (1989) and §766.101(6)(b), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1990)].

The Legislature of the State of Florida has recognized that a dire health care crisis exists in this state which will soon cause the breakdown of both the capacity of the health care industry to provide medical care and the ability of our legal system to effectively resolve medical-legal issues. Ch. 85-175, Preamble, Laws of Fla., at 1182-1183. Because of this very real threat, our Legislature has determined that:

"...the magnitude of this compelling social problem demands immediate and dramatic legislative action."

Ch. 85-175, Preamble, Laws of Fla., Page 1183. The bond requirements complained of by the Appellee are justifiable legislative restrictions upon access to the courts and are not precluded by Art. I, § 21, Fla. Const. <u>See</u>, Carr v. Broward County, 541 So.2d 92, at 95 (Fla. 1989); Feldman v, Glucroft, 522

а

So.2d 798, 801 (Fla. 1988); Holly v. Auld, 450 So.2d 217, 220 (Fla. 1984); Carter v. Sparkman, 335 So.2d 802, at 805-808 (Fla. 1976). The cases cited by the Appellee in Guerrero I and 11, as will be demonstrated below, are entirely inapplicable to the constitutionally permitted legislative exercise of the police power of the state in the face of dire need in the area of public health and welfare at issue in the present case.

A review of the relevant health care statutes since 1972, in conjunction with the Florida Supreme Court cases reviewing the constitutionality of those statutes, highlights the extraordinary public policy issues with which our Legislature has been grappling. Ch. 72-62, Laws of Fla., constituted the first move by the Legislature to immunize persons involved in the medical review process for monetary liability. In 1973 the Legislature first imposed a restriction on discovery and use in court of proceedings and records of medical review committees. Ch. 73-50, Laws of Fla. The basis for this legislation was:

''WHEREAS, the Legislature is deeply concerned over the rising costs of health insurance which are directly related to the costs of hospital and medical services and increasing problems in the area of medical malpractice insurance:

WHEREAS, the various health services, professional societies, and associations in the State of Florida are promulgating programs and establishing committees for the purpose of reviewing standards of care, utilization and expense in the rendering of health services in an effort deter or eliminate some of the causes of increased claims and costs of providing health services and to provide a statistical base for further analysis, study and recommendations; and

WHEREAS, the legislature recognizes the advisability of immunity for peer review committees so that the medical

profession can explore over utilization of medical services, improper charging for medical services, and acts of malpractice in order that it can have better control over its members and experience rate its physicians for malpractice coverage;" (Ch. 73-50, Preamble, Law of Fla.).

It is important to note that the Legislature's scheme for the medical peer review process, as of 1973, was permissive.

Nevertheless, the Supreme Court of Florida, in Holly V. Auld, supra., quoted verbatim the above quoted basis for the discovery and evidentiary restrictions and found:

"It is apparent that the need for confidentiality is as great when a credentials committee attempts to elicit doctors' honest opinions about one of their colleagues for purposes of determining fitness for staff privileges as when attempting to determine whether the practice of a doctor on the staff meets the standards of the medical community. A doctor questioned by a review committee would reasonably be just as reluctant to make statements, however truthful or justifiable, which might form the basis of a defamation action against him as he would be to proffer opinions which could be used against a colleague in a malpractice suit." 450 So.2d at 220.

The Court in Holly v. Auld then held:

"Inevitably, such a discovery privilege will impinge upon the rights of some civil litigants to discovery of information which might be helpful, or even essential, to their causes. We must assume that the legislature balanced this potential detriment against the potential for health care cost containment offered by effective self-policing by the medical community and found the latter to be of greater weight. It is precisely this sort of policy judgment which is exclusively the province of the legislature rather than the courts." 450 So.2d at 220.

The Appellee argues <u>Holly</u> is inapplicable to the present case, because there the Court did not consider constitutional issues.

(135) (246-247). However, <u>Holly</u> dealt with eliminating access to essential information, in effect, eliminating or severely limiting

access to the courts. <u>Id</u>. The Court then stressed that balancing competing policy interests is precisely within the legislative function and outside of the judicial function. <u>Id</u>. See also, the discussion of the access to courts issue in the dissenting opinion of Judge Ehrich, <u>Holly</u>, at 222.

In Ch. 77-461 and 79-400, Laws of Fla., the Legislature clarified and somewhat expanded its immunity provisions in the area of medical peer review; however, the Legislature's scheme for the medical review and disciplinary process remained permissive. This was the status of the 1983 version of §768.40(4), Fla. Stat. (1983), which was viewed by the Florida Supreme Court in Feldman v. Glucroft, supra. As will be discussed more fully under Issue 11, the Court in Feldman found no total abolishment of a cause of action and thus determined that an analysis of the applicability of Art. I, § 21, Fla. Const., would be unnecessary, 522 So.2d at The Court quoted its Holly v. Auld opinion extensively and 798. again upheld the impediments to litigants resulting from the immunity and discovery limitations of 5768.40, Fla. Stat., reasonable in light of the legislative determination of necessity. 522 So.2d at 801.

а

а

Prior to 1985, the Legislature authorized, but did not require, the medical review and disciplinary process at issue in the present case. The Legislature's scheme of permissive peer review was first promulgated at Ch. 72-62, Laws of Fla., which also provided immunity from monetary liability. It was the statutory permissive peer review process, and its discovery and immunity

provisions, which were upheld in <u>Holly v. Auld</u>, <u>supra</u>, and <u>peldman</u> <u>v. Glucroft</u>, <u>supra</u>, by the Florida Supreme Court, on the basis of extreme public need in public health and welfare.

Governor Bob Graham, in Executive Order No. 84-202, created the Governor's Task Force on Medical Malpractice, to examine the continuing medical malpractice crisis in the State of Florida. After six (6) months of hearing and research, the Governor's Task Force issued its report, "Toward Prevention and Early Resolution." Among its findings, the Task Force reported:

"The state should encourage peer review and reduce the risks associated with it. Physicians currently feel vulnerable to suit if they candidly participate in peer review activities. This has acted as a deterrent to strong peer review among providers (Page 64)... When the individual physician sitting on a peer review panel is sued and personal assets are then threatened, it results in physicians being unwilling to participate further in these activities. Few mechanisms are in place to protect the physician who participates in peer review from these types of suits. (Page 64).

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