) o7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

OCT 1991

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

CASE NO: 78,017

COMMUNITY HOSPITAL OF THE PALM BEACHES, INC., etc., et al.,

Appellants,

-vs-

LUIS GUERRERO, M.D.,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

Jack Scarola, Esq. of
SEARCY DENNEY SCAROLA
BARNHART & SHIPLEY, P.A.
P.O. Drawer 3626
West Palm Beach, FL 33402
and
Philip M. Burlington, Esq. of
EDNA L. CARUSO, P.A.
Suite 4-B/Barristers Bldg.
1615 Forum Place
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
(407) 686-8010
Attorneys for Appellee

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Fourth District, consistent with the First District, \$§395.011(10)(B), properly determined that Fla. Stat. 395.0115(5)(B), and 766.101(6)(B) are unconstitutional violating the right of access to courts guaranteed by Article I, §21 Florida Constitution. Florida of the courts have that financial impediments consistently held judicial to consideration of cases are unconstitutional unless they are limited to reasonable court costs. In the case sub judice, the Plaintiff was required, as a result of the statutes at issue, to post a bond of \$150,000 as a prerequisite to any judicial consideration of his case. At a minimum, that would require the payment of a bond premium of approximately \$15,000, with the requirement of securing the obligation with property worth \$150,000. Such an impediment is unconstitutional as it does not act to eliminate meritorious suits, it simply prevents those without means from getting their cases resolved.

The Defendants' reliance on general medical malpractice cases and the line of cases addressing whether causes of action can be abolished by the legislature is unpersuasive. Those cases do not address the issue in this case which is, quite simply, whether such a significant financial impediment to consideration violates Article I, **§21** φ£ the Florida Constitution, The heavy reliance on the perceived medical malpractice crises is also unpersuasive since constitutional provisions are not to be disregarded because of expediency, nor because the legislature has passed statutes in response to an alleged crisis. One of the most basic principles of our jurisprudence that the legislation which violates is constitutional provisions must be declared invalid.

Additionally, the <u>Fla. Stat. §57.081</u> is irrelevant to this case since that only permits indigent litigants from having to pay court costs. That statute does not apply to bond premiums or to attorney's fees. Therefore, that statute cannot be relied upon as providing an avenue for upholding the constitutionality of the statutes at issue.

For the reasons stated above, the Fourth District should be affirmed, and the statutes should be declared void as violating Article I, §21 of the Florida Constitution.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY CONCLUDED §§395.011(10)(B), 395.0115(5) (B), AND (1989),766.101(6)(B), FLA. STAT. ARE UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS VIOLATING THE RIGHT OF ACCESS TO COURTS GUARANTEED BY ARTICLE I, \$21 [THIS POINT OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION. ADDRESSES POINTS I AND III OF APPELLANTS' BRIEF. 1

The statutes at issue in this case require that a physician challenging the denial, revocation, or limitation of his hospital other peer review action must file, as privileges or prerequisite to court resolution, a bond for the full amount of the defendants' anticipated costs and attorney's fees. the posting of such a bond, the defendants have no obligation to take any action to defend the lawsuit, and it simply remains These provisions clearly violate Article I, \$21 of the dormant. Florida Constitution, as determined by the Fourth District in The Fourth District adopted the reasoning of the this case. dissenting opinion of Judge Anstead from GUERRERO I, which was also adopted by the First District in PSYCHIATRIC ASSOCIATES v. SIEGEL, 576 So. 2d 52 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990).

Article I, \$21 of the Florida Constitution provides:

The courts shall be open to every person for redress of any injury, and justice shall be administered without sale, denial or delay.

The Fourth District characterized the right created by that provision as a fundamental right of access to the courts.² The

²/In GUERRERO 11, the Fourth District adopted the reasoning of the dissenting opinion of Judge Anstead in GUERRERO I. For ease of reference, the contents of that dissenting opinion will simply be referred to as the opinion of the Fourth District, although cites for quotations will be to Judge Anstead's dissenting opinion in GUERRERO I.

fundamental nature of that right is apparent from its historical background. A virtually identical provision was contained in Chapter 29 of the Magna Carta, which contained the clause, "To none will we sell, deny, or delay right or justice," T. PLUCKNETT, A Concise History of the Common Law, 24 (5th Edition 1956). That clause in the Magna Carta was paraphrased in the original constitution of the State of Florida, see 1838 Florida Constitution, Article I, §9. A similar provision has been retained in every subsequent version of the Florida Constitution.

The access to courts provision has been consistently applied to invalidate legislation or court rulings which impose financial burdens, other than reasonable court costs, as a prerequisite to judicial consideration. In FLOOD v. STATE EX REL HOMELAND, 117 (Fla. 1928), the Court reviewed the propriety of So. 385 legislation which imposed a supplementary docket fee of ten dollars to be paid by a plaintiff upon the institution of any civil action with more than \$500 at issue (Chapter 12,004, Acts 1927). The funds generated by the docket fee were to be retained by the county and utilized for the establishment of a law library or for other general county purposes. The Court noted that despite its characterization as a "fee," the additional charge was in fact a tax levied and collected for a county purpose, since no part of it was appropriated for the payment of any services rendered by the clerk of the court. As a result, the legislation was repugnant to the access to courts provision of the Florida Constitution (117 So. at 387):

The act is clearly an attempt to levy a tax on those who must bring their causes into court and to require the payment of such tax for the benefit of the public treasury, and is an abrogation of the administration of right and justice.

The opinion then quoted with approval from MALIN v. LA MOURE COUNTY, 145 N.W. 582, 586 (N.D. 1914), (117 So. at 387):

[F]ree and reasonable access to the courts and to the privileges accorded by the courts, and without unreasonable charges, was intended to be guaranteed to everyone.

Since FLOOD, Florida courts have consistently invalidated any financial conditions, other than reasonable court costs, imposed on the right to pursue judicial relief. In BELL v. STATE, 281 So.2d 361 (Fla. 2d DCA 1973), the trial court ordered the defendant to reimburse the State for the cost of the trial transcript and the prasecution of the case against him as a prerequisite to consideration of his request for a supersedeas bond. The Second District vacated that order concluding that to require the defendant to pay those costs prior to having consideration of his bail request constituted a violation of the access to courts provision of the Florida Constitution court's decision underscores the fundamental nature of the right The order of the trial court did not impose the financial condition as a proposition to the desirable pursue his appellate remedies, but solely the issue of the supersedeas bond. The Second District, obviously considering the fundamental nature of the access to courts provision, determined that it precluded not only financial conditions which impeded resolution of the merits, but also those which interfered with

the resolution of other collateral issues such as release pending appeal.

In G.B.B. INVESTMENTS, INC. v. HINTERKOPF, 343 So.2d 899 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977), a mortgage foreclosure action, the trial court ordered that the defendant's counterclaim would be dismissed unless it deposited in the court registry the amount due on the mortgage, plus delinquent interest and taxes. The Third District reversed that order, concluding that such a financial precondition to suit was in "direct collision with G.B.B.'s constitutional right to free access to the courts." The court stated (343 So.2d at 901):

It [Article I, Section 21] guarantees to every person the right to free access to the courts on claims of redress of injury free of unreasonable burdens and restrictions. Any restrictions on such access to the courts must be liberally construed in favor of the constitutional right. LEHMANN v. CLONIGER, 294 So. 2d 344 (Fla. 1st DCA 1974).

The courts have generally disapproved financial pre-conditions to bringing claims or asserting defenses in court aside from court related filing fees.

Similarly, in TIRONE v. TIRONE, 327 So.2d 801 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976), the trial court entered an order dismissing the wife's motion for relief from final judgment, because she had not paid her prior attorney's fees as required by court order. The Third District reversed, stating (327 So.2d at 802):

We hold that access to the courts may not be conditioned upon actual payment to one's attorney in a prior litigation.

Viewed in its historical perspective and in light of prior case law, the First District's decision properly applied Article

I, \$21 of the Florida Constitution to invalidate the statutory bond requirements at issue. The opinion emphasizes the fundamental nature of the right of access to the courts and noted that it prohibits financial impediments to suit, other than those related to actual court costs (548 So.2d at 1187-88):

The right to go to court to resolve our disputes, rather than resorting to self-help or settling them in the streets, **is** one of the most fundamental and necessary rights of a citizen in a society based on the rule of law....

courts have consistently held that I, §21 sharply Article restricts imposition of monetary preconditions asserting claims in court [citing G.B.B. INVESTMENTS, supra.]. While reasonable measures, like filing fees, have been upheld, that monetary conditions constitute substantial burden on a litigant's right to have his case heard in court have been disfavored.

The court noted that the bond requirements do not discriminate between meritorious and non-meritorious suits, and that their real effect is to prevent plaintiffs unable to afford the bond from bringing suit, <u>Ibid</u>. Based on those considerations **and** the arbitrary operation and effect of those statutory provisions, the First District held them to be unconstitutional.

Defendants contend that the bond requirement imposed by <u>Fla</u>, <u>Stat</u>. §395.0115(5)(b) and §768.40(6)(b) does not violate the access to courts provision of the Florida Constitution because the legislature enacted it in response to a perceived need in the area of public health and welfare. Defendants rely on three cases, CARTER v. SPARKMAN, 335 So.2d 802 (Fla, 1976); HOLLY v. AULD, 450 So.2d 217 (Fla, 1984); and FELDMAN v. GLUCROFT, 522

So.2d **798** (Fla. 1988), in support of this conclusion. However, none of those cases addressed the bond requirement at issue the case <u>\$u judice</u>. Furthermore, those cases do not support the proposition that the bond requirement at issue here is constitutional.

In CARTER v. SPARKMAN, <u>supra</u>, the Court addressed the constitutionality of the legislation creating medical liability mediation panels and requiring resort to them as a prerequisite to seeking relief in the courts. After noting that the courts are generally opposed to any burden being placed on the rights of aggrieved persons to pursue their claims in court, the majority opinion noted that certain reasonable restrictions had been permitted, such **as** (335 So.2d **at** 805):

[The fixing of a time within which suit must be brought, payment of reasonable cost deposits, pursuit of certain administrative relief such as zoning matters or workmen's compensation claims, or the requirement that newspapers be given the right of retraction before an action for libel may be filed.

While the Court concluded that the pre-litigation burden of mediation (335 So.2d at 806), "reaches the outer limits of constitutional tolerance," it did uphold the procedure. In upholding the mediation procedure against the constitutional challenge, the court simply held that the legislature can create administrative prerequisites to suit even though there may be additional expenses imposed thereby. Requiring the posting of a bond in the amount of the opponent's anticipated attorney's fees is not the equivalent of requiring administrative review prior to suit.

Justice England noted in his concurring opinion in CARTER that the mediation procedure was designed to remove from the court system cases which were patently frivolous or clearly meritorious, 335 So.2d at 807. Defendants attempt to justify the bond requirement at issue here under a similar rationale, arguing that the legislature enacted the bond requirement "to protect hospitals and doctors participating in the medical review disciplinary process from the chilling effect of the threat of the filing of non-meritorious retaliatory suits by disciplined doctors," (Petition p. 14). However, the bond requirement does not operate as a screening device based on the merits of the claim, but simply eliminates those cases in which a plaintiff cannot afford to obtain the bond.

CARTER is inapposite because, **as** noted by the Fourth District, unlike the mediation procedures, the bond requirement contains no component relevant to the merits of a plaintiff's action. The Fourth District quoted from **ALDANA v.** HOLUB, **381** So.2d 231, 236 (Fla. 1980), where the Court stated (**548** So.2d at 1189):

It simply offends due process to countenance a law which confers a valuable legal right, but then permits that right to be capriciously swept away on the wings of luck and happenstance.

It is also significant that in ALDANA, the Florida Supreme Court determined that the same mediation procedures that were upheld in CARTER were unconstitutional. The Court based its decision on the fact that the procedures operated arbitrarily to eliminate many claims irrespective of their merits.

In HOLLY V. AULD, <u>supra</u>, the Court addressed the statutory discovery privilege provided in <u>Fla</u>. Stat. \$768.40(4) and determined that it applied in all civil actions and not simply to medical malpractice actions. There was no constitutional issue involved in that case and, thus, it is of minimal importance with regard to this Petition. The Court simply determined that the legislature perceived a need for confidentiality in the medical review proceedings and created a discovery privilege to protect that confidentiality. No issue of access to courts was presented.

ر (با با

In FELDMAN v. GLUCROFT, supra, the Court was presented two certified questions (522 Sq.2d at 798):

- (1) Does Section 768.40(4) totally abolish a defamation claim arising in proceedings before medical review committees?
- (2) If so, is Section 768.40(4) invalid as in conflict with Article I, Section 21, Florida Constitution?

The Court determined that the statute did not totally abolish a defamation claim, but simply created a qualified immunity for members of medical review committees as it had done for other licensing and administrative proceedings, 522 So.2d at 801. Based on that answer to the first question, the court determined that the second question was moot and did not address it. Nothing in the FELDMAN v. GLUCROFT case supports Defendants' position in the case <u>sub judice</u>, since there was no issue regarding the constitutional right to access to the courts.

An analysis of the three cases discussed above reveals that they are inapposite, The Florida Supreme Court has simply upheld

certain aspects of the Medical Malpractice Act Fla. Stat \$768 et. seg., none of which are at issue here. The only case relating to pre-litigation impediments is CARTER v. SPARKMAN, supra, which is easily distinguishable since, in that case, the legislature required an administrative proceeding prior to permitting access to the courts, a requirement that does not conflict with Article I, \$21 of the Florida Constitution.

NORTH POINT BANK v. STATE DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE, 313 So.2d 693 (Fla. 1975), does not support Defendants' position. In that case, the Court determined that a statutory requirement that a taxpayer deposit or post a bond far the disputed amount of assessed intangible taxes did not violate the access to courts provision of the Florida Constitution. The Court determined that if construed literally, the statute would violate that constitutional provision, 313 Sq.2d at 683. However, the Court concluded that, as construed by the trial court, the statute was not constitutionally infirm. The trial court had concluded that, 313 So.2d at 687:

The statute does not require the taxpayer to post a bond in the amount of the contested assessment, but only requires that it post a bond upon the satisfaction of the court's judgement as to the proper tax. [Emphasis in original.]

The Court also noted that prior to bringing suit, the taxpayer was required to participate in an administrative proceeding which reviewed the assessment. That administrative assessment was considered presumptively correct. Based on the trial court's

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